IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC12-2406

NADIA GARCON and JOSHUA D. ROBINSON,

Petitioners,

-VS-

AGENCY FOR HEALTH-CARE ADMINISTRATION (AHCA),

Res	pondent.	
		/

INITIAL BRIEF OF PETITIONERS ON THE MERITS

On appeal from the Third District Court of Appeal of the State of Florida

SUAREZ & TAYLOR, ATTORNEYS AT LAW 11900 Biscayne Blvd., Suite 280 Miami, FL 33181 sat@satlegal.com

and
BURLINGTON & ROCKENBACH, P.A.
444 West Railroad Avenue, Suite 350
West Palm Beach, FL 33401
(561) 721-0400
Attorneys for Petitioners
njs@FLAppellateLaw.com
jew@FLAppellateLaw.com
bdr@FLAppellateLaw.com
fa@FLAppellateLaw.com

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

On April 18, 2008, two year old Joshua Robinson, Jr. ("Joshua") was hit by a stray bullet at the apartment complex where he lived with his mother (R1:55; T:13). Joshua suffered injuries to his spinal cord and to his right kidney, which had to be removed (R1:55; T:14-15). Joshua also suffered a large laceration to his liver which was repaired, a right rib fracture, and damage to his diaphragm (R1:55). As a result of this incident, Joshua will be paralyzed from the bellybutton down for the rest of his life (R1:55; T:15).

Sometime after the incident, Joshua's parents ("Garcon") contacted an attorney to aid in their efforts to take action against those responsible for their son's injuries (T1:14-15). The attorney investigated all possible avenues of recovery for Joshua and determined that the apartment complex where Joshua was shot was the only financially viable potential defendant (T:15-18). Before Garcon initialized legal proceedings against the apartment complex, it tendered, and Garcon accepted, the policy limits of \$1,000,000 as a settlement of all potential claims Garcon had against it (R1:5-7, 21-22, 55). The parties did not allocate the settlement to different elements of damages.

After Garcon settled with the apartment complex, Medicaid, which had paid for Joshua's medical care, asserted a lien of \$244,590.57 against the settlement

proceeds (R1:56). This was the full amount paid by Medicaid for Joshua's medical care (R1:56).

Garcon filed a Petition with the circuit court to allocate the settlement and determine the Medicaid lien (R1:55-118). Garcon asked the court to reduce the Medicaid lien to \$19,568.23¹ (R1:56; R2:232-33). Garcon argued that the Florida statute upon which Medicaid relied to assert its lien, subsection 409.910(11)(f),²

Notwithstanding any provision in this section to the contrary, in event of an action in tort against a third party in which the recipient or his or her legal representative is a party which results in a judgment, award, or settlement from a third party, the amount recovered shall be distributed as follows:

- 1. After attorney's fees and taxable costs as defined by the Florida Rules of Civil Procedure, one-half of the remaining recovery shall be paid to the agency up to the total amount of medical assistance provided by Medicaid.
- 2. The remaining amount of the recovery shall be paid to the recipient.
- 3. For purposes of calculating the agency's recovery of medical assistance benefits paid, the fee for services of an attorney retained by the recipient or his or her legal representative shall be calculated at 25 percent of the judgment, award, or settlement.
- 4. Notwithstanding any provision of this section to the contrary, the agency shall be entitled to all medical coverage benefits up to the total amount of medical assistance provided by Medicaid. For purposes of this paragraph, "medical coverage" means any benefits under health insurance, a

¹ Garcon originally requested that the lien be reduced to \$20,220.50 (R1:56); however, after recognizing a mathematical error, they amended their request and asked that the lien be reduced to \$19,568.23 (R2:232-33).

² Subsection 409.910(11)(f) provides:

Florida Statutes (2010),³ violated Federal law, as interpreted by the United States Supreme Court in <u>Arkansas Dep't of Health & Human Services v. Ahlborn</u>, 547 U.S. 268 (2006) (R1:56-68). Garcon contended that, pursuant to <u>Ahlborn</u>, the state was entitled to only that portion of the settlement which represented reimbursement for past medical expenses.

To support their Petition, Garcon submitted a "Special Needs Analysis," which had been prepared by Anne Koerner ("Koerner"), a special needs nurse consultant (R1:108-18). Koerner reviewed Joshua's medical records from Jackson Health System, the Medicaid lien documentation, and had a phone conference with Joshua's father (R1:108). With this information, Koerner developed projections of Joshua's future medical needs as well as the costs of his care (R1:108-18). Koerner estimated that the cost of Joshua's future medical care, discounted to present value, was \$8,088,464 (R1:108-09). Thus, combined with the cost of Joshua's past medical care of \$244,590.57, Joshua's lifetime medical costs were estimated at \$8,333,054.57.

health maintenance organization, a preferred provider arrangement, or a prepaid health clinic, and the portion of benefits designated for medical payments under coverage for workers' compensation, personal injury protection, and casualty. [Emphasis added.]

³ Section 409.910 was amended effective July 1, 2013. It is the 2010 version of the statute that is the subject of the instant appeal.

Garcon argued that because the settlement of \$1 million was just 12% of Joshua's total medical costs (\$1,000,000 / \$8,333,054.57 = 12%), the Medicaid lien should be reduced to 12% of the claimed amount, or \$29,350.87 (\$244,590.57 x 12% = \$29,350.87) (R2:232-33). Garcon also requested that that sum be further reduced by 33.33% to account for attorney's fees and costs, to \$19,568.23 (\$29,350.87 x 66.67% = \$19,568.23) (R2:232-33).

The Agency for Health Care Administration ("AHCA"), the Medicaid Third Party Liability Recovery vendor for the State of Florida, objected to the proposed reduction of the lien (R1:192-202, R2:203-07). AHCA argued that it was entitled to reimbursement of the full amount paid for Joshua's care, pursuant to section 409.910(11), Florida Statutes (R1:202).

Garcon set the matter for a hearing before the trial court. Garcon intended to introduce evidence to support their position that the Medicaid lien had to be reduced (T:5-6). At the hearing, AHCA immediately objected to the introduction of evidence, arguing that it was entitled to its full lien pursuant to subsection 409.910(11)(f) (T:4-5, 7). AHCA contended that this statute conclusively established the amount of its lien and that Garcon had no right to present evidence or obtain a reduction of the lien (T:4-5, 7). Because the parties were there and Garcon had witnesses ready to testify, the trial court decided to hear Garcon's evidence and then decide the legal issues later (T:11).

Jennete Lewis ("Lewis"), the lawyer who had been retained by Garcon, testified about her efforts at obtaining the maximum recovery for Joshua (T:14-18). She testified that she investigated all avenues of recovery and that the apartment complex was the only financially viable potential defendant (T:14-18). Before filing suit, she sent a demand for the policy limits, which was accepted (T:16-17). There were no other potential sources of recovery for Joshua (T:14-18). Accordingly, Garcon settled with the complex for its policy limits of \$1,000,000.

Koerner, the special needs nurse consultant, also testified for Garcon (T:18). Koerner testified that she had been a nurse for 30 years and that for the past 15 years, she worked exclusively in the area of "proof settlement special needs nurse case management" (T:18). Koerner testified that she had been asked by Garcon to determine the costs for Joshua's future medical needs (T:19-20). Koerner's report, discussed above, was admitted into evidence (T:20-21).

Koerner explained that in coming up with her projections, she reviewed Joshua's records from Jackson Health System, spoke to Joshua's father, and examined Joshua (T:20, 33-34; R1:108). Koerner also reviewed the Medicaid lien and the items paid for, so that she could determine the value of Medicaid to Joshua throughout his lifetime (T:21-22). Using this information, Koerner developed a schedule of all of Joshua's medical needs for the rest of his life and the costs associated with those needs, which was contained in her report (R1:108-18).

AHCA did not present any evidence at the hearing. After Koerner testified, the trial court heard argument from the parties regarding whether subsection 409.910(11)(f) required that the trial court award AHCA its full lien, regardless of the evidence presented by Garcon establishing that the lien exceeded the portion of the settlement recovered as reimbursement for past medical expenses (T:44-78). The hearing concluded with no indication from the trial court as to how it would rule.

Later, the trial court entered an order awarding AHCA the full amount if its lien, \$244,590.57 (R2:244). The order was void of reasoning or explanation as to why the court ruled as it did.

On appeal, the Third District affirmed the trial court's decision, holding that "section 409.910 (1)(11)(f) [sic] is not federally preempted and is, as the lower court held, fully effective and enforceable." <u>Garcon v. Agency for Health Care Admin.</u>, 96 So.3d 472, 473 (Fla. 3d DCA 2012). The court concluded:

Moreover, as these authorities indicate, there is nothing in the <u>Ahlborn</u> case which is contrary to this position. <u>Ahlborn</u> struck down an Arkansas statute to the extent that it allowed for Medicaid recovery that could impinge on an entire plaintiff's award and not merely past medical damages for which Medicaid may be reimbursed. Indeed, <u>Ahlborn</u> specifically recognized that even when a settlement is not allocated-as was this one-entirely to a recovery amount representing medical damages, a state was free to adopt "special rules and procedures" to fix the lien. <u>Id.</u> at 288 n. 18, 126 S.Ct. 1752. The Florida statute is just such a "special rule."

Garcon, 96 So.3d at 473-74. This appeal timely followed.

In the time since the Third District issued its opinion in the instant case, significant legal authorities have been issued, both at the state and federal level. As discussed further below, the United States Supreme Court's decision in <u>Wos v. E.M.A. ex rel. Johnson</u>, 133 S. Ct. 1391 (2013), makes it quite clear that section 409.910 is preempted by federal law insomuch as it operates as an irrebuttable presumption allowing the state to take a portion of a Medicaid recipient's settlement not recovered as reimbursement for past medical expenses.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Section 409.910(11)(f), Florida Statutes (2010), is federally preempted and unenforceable to the extent that it allows the state to recover more of a Medicaid recipient's settlement with a third party tortfeasor than was recovered as reimbursement for past medical expenses.

Here, the trial court erred in awarding AHCA the full amount of its lien. Section 409.910, attempts to place a lien on up to 50% of a Medicaid recipient's settlement or judgment without regard to whether that is an accurate estimation of the amount paid by the state for medical expenses. Because the state is prohibited by federal law from being reimbursed out of the portion of the settlement which is not reimbursement for past medical expenses, the state must prove that its lien does not exceed the third party's payment of past medical expenses. Proving that fact requires either a stipulation by the parties, or evidence of the proper allocation.

In this case, Robinson presented competent, uncontradicted evidence establishing that the state's lien was greater than the portion of the settlement that was recovered as reimbursement for past medical expenses. AHCA argued that reimbursement pursuant to section 409.910(11)(f) was conclusive; however, allowing for a conclusive 50% reimbursement is a violation of federal law as expressed by the United States Supreme Court in Ahlborn.

Accordingly, the Order on appeal must be reversed and the case remanded for a hearing.

ARGUMENT

POINT-ON-APPEAL

THE TRIAL COURT'S ORDER MUST BE REVERSED AS THE FLORIDA STATUTE RELIED UPON BY THE TRIAL COURT IS PREEMPTED BY FEDERAL LAW TO THE EXTENT THAT IT ALLOWS THE STATE TO TAKE A PORTION OF A MEDICAID RECIPIENT'S SETTLEMENT THAT WAS NOT RECOVERED AS REIMBURSEMENT FOR PAST MEDICAL EXPENSES.

Standard of Review

Whether state law is preempted by federal law is a pure question of law that is subject to *de novo* review. <u>Vreeland v. Ferrer</u>, 71 So.3d 70, 73 (Fla. 2011), <u>reh'g denied</u> (Sept. 13, 2011), <u>cert. denied</u>, 132 S. Ct. 1557 (U.S. 2012).

Merits

It is well-established that, pursuant to the Supremacy Clause of the United States Constitution,⁴ state laws may be preempted by federal laws in three situations:

This Constitution, and the Laws of the United States which shall be made in Pursuance thereof; and all Treaties made, or which shall be made, under the Authority of the United States, shall be the supreme Law of the Land; and the Judges in every State shall be bound thereby, any Thing in the Constitution or Laws of any State to the Contrary notwithstanding.

⁴ The Supremacy Clause provides (U.S. Const., art. VI, cl. 2):

(1) where express federal statutory language so provides; (2) where federal law has so thoroughly occupied a legislative field as to create a reasonable inference that there is no room for the state to supplement it; or (3) where a state law conflicts with a federal law.

Rosado v. DaimlerChrysler Fin. Services Trust, 112 So.3d 1165, 1167 (Fla. 2013) (citing Vargas v. Enter. Leasing Co., 60 So.3d 1037, 1040–41 (Fla.)). Here, Florida Medicaid law conflicts with federal law and is, thus, preempted.

A. The Relevant Law

The issue to be decided here involves the interplay between the federal and state Medicaid laws. Caselaw at both the federal and state level is critical to recognizing why the Florida law violates federal law and is, thus, preempted.

1. Federal Medicaid Law

The Medicaid program is a cooperative one between each state and the federal government that provides joint federal and state funding of medical care for individuals who cannot afford to pay their own medical costs. Arkansas Dept. of Health & Human Services v. Ahlborn, 547 U.S. 268, 275 (2006). States are not required to participate in Medicaid, but they all do. Id. Under the program, the federal government reimburses states for a percentage of the costs the states incur for patient care. The states pay their portion of the costs and comply with certain statutory requirements for maintaining and administering the program. Id.

One such requirement is that the state agency in charge of Medicaid (here, AHCA) determine whether someone, such as a third-party tortfeasor, is legally liable "to pay for care and services available under the plan." 42 U.S.C. §1396a(a)(25)(A). Where the legal liability of a third party is found to exist "after medical assistance has been made available" to a recipient, the state must "seek reimbursement for such assistance to the extent of such legal liability," §1396a(a)(25)(B).

To facilitate reimbursement from liable third parties, state Medicaid laws must provide:

that **to the extent that payment has been made** under the State plan for medical assistance in any case where a third party has a legal liability to make payment for such assistance, the State has in effect laws under which, **to the extent that payment has been made** under the State plan for medical assistance for health care items or services furnished to an individual, the State is considered to have acquired the rights of such individual to payment by any other party for such health care items or services; and

Section 1396a(a)(25)(H) (emphasis added).

To that end, Medicaid recipients must assign the state any rights to payment for medical care from any third party. See §1396k(a)(1)(A). Any amount collected by the state pursuant to such an assignment "shall be retained by the State as is necessary to reimburse it for medical assistance payments made on behalf of an individual with respect to whom such assignment was executed . . . and the remainder of such amount collected shall be paid to such individual," §1396k(b).

While federal law requires states to seek reimbursement from third parties for medical assistance paid on behalf of Medicaid recipients, it also "places express limits on the State's powers to pursue recovery of funds it paid on the recipient's behalf." Ahlborn, 547 U.S. at 283. Specifically, states are prohibited (except in circumstances not relevant here) from imposing liens "against the property of any individual prior to his death on account of medical assistance paid or to be paid on his behalf," §1396p(a)(1). This provision is often referred to as the "anti-lien provision."

2. The Ahlborn Case

The seminal case interpreting the federal Medicaid law is <u>Arkansas Dept. of Health & Human Services v. Ahlborn</u>, 547 U.S. 268, 274 (2006). In <u>Ahlborn</u>, the United States Supreme Court examined how the anti-lien provision and the Medicaid reimbursement requirements, which appear to be at odds with each other, co-exist. In <u>Ahlborn</u>, a woman was severely injured in a car accident. Arkansas' Medicaid program paid \$215,645.30 in medical bills on her behalf. The woman ultimately settled a claim against the driver who caused the accident for \$550,000. The parties did not allocate the settlement between categories of damages. Pursuant to Arkansas law, the state agency administering the Medicaid program

asserted a lien against the settlement proceeds in the amount of the total cost of payments made on Ahlborn's behalf.

Ahlborn sought a declaration by the federal district court that the state's lien violated federal Medicaid law insomuch as its satisfaction required "depletion of compensation for injuries other than past medical expenses." Id. at 274. To facilitate the district court's resolution of the legal issues presented, the parties stipulated that Ahlborn's damages were reasonably valued at \$3.04 million, that the settlement of \$550,000 was approximately 1/6 of that sum, and that if Ahlborn's construction of Medicaid law was correct, Medicaid would be entitled to only the portion of the settlement that constituted reimbursement for past medical **payments** (1/6 of the \$215,645.30 lien, or \$35,581.47). Thus, Ahlborn's position was that because the case settled for 1/6 of its full value, Medicaid's lien should be reduced to 1/6 of its value. Both sides moved for summary judgment. The trial court granted Medicaid's motion and allowed Medicaid to recover its full lien amount from the settlement. On appeal, the appellate court reversed, finding that Medicaid was entitled to only the \$35,581.47 (1/6th of the lien). The United States Supreme Court affirmed.

In Ahlborn, the Supreme Court began by recognizing that, pursuant to sections 1396a(a)(25) and 1396k(a), "the State can require an assignment of the right, or chose in action, to receive payments for medical care." <u>Id.</u> at 284.

Moreover, the Court assumed "that the State can also demand as a condition of Medicaid eligibility that the recipient 'assign' in advance any payments that may constitute **reimbursement for medical costs.**" <u>Id.</u> (emphasis added). The Court determined that "[t]o the extent that the forced assignment is expressly authorized by the terms of §§1396a(a)(25) and 1396k(a), it is an exception to the anti-lien provision," section 1396p, discussed above. <u>Id.</u> The Court cautioned, however, that states could not place a lien on any portion of a beneficiary's property other than that recovered as reimbursement for past medical costs. <u>Id.</u> Beyond that, the ourt explained, "the anti-lien provision applies." <u>Id.</u> at 284-85. Thus, the Arkansas statute was unenforceable to the extent that it allowed the state to assert a lien on more than what was recovered as reimbursement for past medical care. Id. at 292.

The Ahlborn Court determined that where a settlement is not allocated between types of damages, the parties could either stipulate to an allocation, as the parties had in that case, or, if necessary, submit the matter to a court for decision.

Id. at 289. Because the parties in Ahlborn had stipulated to the full value of the claim and to the portion of the settlement intended to reimburse Ahlborn for past medical care, the Court did not have the occasion to determine how a trial court is to determine what portion of an unallocated settlement is recovered as reimbursement for past medical care in the absence of a stipulation. Though it refused to express a view on the matter that was not before the Court, the Court left

open the possibility that "special rules and procedures" could be adopted by states to allocate tort settlements in such situations. <u>Id.</u> at 288, n.18. This issue, left unresolved by the Court in <u>Ahlborn</u>, has been the basis for many subsequent cases throughout the country, including the instant case.

3. Florida Medicaid Law

Section 409.910, Florida Statutes, referred to as the "Medicaid Third-Party Liability Act," governs Florida Medicaid's rights to assert a lien against a Medicaid recipient's settlement or recovery. This statute violates federal Medicaid law, as expressed in <u>Ahlborn</u>, in that it permits the state to recover more from a settlement with a third party than the amount recovered for past medical expenses.

Several subsections of 409.910 unequivocally demonstrate that the statute violates the federal anti-lien provision as they make clear that the state is permitted to recover more than the amount allocated for past medical expenses. Section 409.910(4) requires the state to "seek recovery of reimbursement from third-party benefits to the limit of legal liability and for the full amount of third-party benefits" Furthermore, pursuant to subsection (6)(a), AHCA is automatically subrogated to rights a recipient has to payment from a third party for the full amount of medical assistance provided by Medicaid. The statute expressly provides that recovery pursuant to such subrogation "shall not be reduced,

provide full recovery by the agency from any and all third-party benefits," \$409.910(6)(a). To that end, Florida law grants an automatic lien over any third-party benefits for the full amount of medical assistance provided by Medicaid, \$409.910(6)(c). Subsection 11(e) provides that "notwithstanding any other provision of law, the entire amount of any settlement of the recipient's action or claim involving third-party benefits, with or without suit, is subject to the agency's claims for reimbursement of the amount of medical assistance provided and any lien pursuant thereto."

The subsection specifically at issue here is subsection 409.910 (11)(f), which provides, "[n]otwithstanding any provision in this section to the contrary," that after deducting 25% of the settlement or judgment for attorney's fees:

one-half of the remaining recovery shall be paid to the agency up to the total amount of medical assistance provided by Medicaid.

This subsection operates to permit AHCA to recover its entire lien, up to one-half of the settlement or judgment (after a 25% reduction for attorney's fees), without any regard for how much of a settlement was actually recovered as reimbursement for past medical expenses and, in the situation where a judgment has been rendered pursuant to a jury verdict, without regard to how much the jury awarded plaintiff for past medical expenses. This statute is indistinguishable from the Arkansas statute rejected in Ahlborn to the extent that it allows the state to take more than

that recovered as reimbursement for past medical expenses. Pursuant to Ahlborn, application of section 409.910 in such a manner is a clear violation of the federal Medicaid law.

4. Post-Ahlborn Florida Caselaw

At the time this case was decided by the trial court, two Florida District Courts had addressed the interplay between the federal law, the Supreme Court's decision in Ahlborn, and the Florida law: The Second District in Smith v. Agency for Health Care Admin., 24 So.3d 590 (Fla. 5th DCA 2009) and the Fifth District in Russell v. Agency for Health Care Admin., 23 So.3d 1266, 1267 (Fla. 2d DCA 2010). Since the Third District's decision in the instant case, the Fourth District also weighed in on the issue in Roberts v. Albertson's Inc., 119 So.3d 457 (Fla. 4th DCA 2012).

a. Smith v. Agency for Health Care Admin.

In <u>Smith v. Agency for Health Care Admin.</u>, 24 So.3d 590 (Fla. 5th DCA 2009), the plaintiff settled her personal injury case for \$2,225,000, which she claimed was just 1/3 of the value of her damages. The state asserted a Medicaid lien of \$122,783.87, the full amount of the benefits paid on behalf of the plaintiff, against the settlement proceeds. The plaintiff sought to reduce the lien from \$122,783.87 to \$40,927.96. According to the plaintiff, pursuant to <u>Ahlborn</u>, the

lien had to be reduced "in the same ratio as the settlement bears to actual damages." <u>Id.</u> at 591. Thus, because the claim settled for just 1/3 of the actual damages, the lien had to be reduced by 1/3 (\$122,783.87 ÷ 3 = \$40,927.96).

The Fifth District rejected this argument, finding that "Ahlborn simply held that under federal law a state's Medicaid lien recovery is limited to the portion of a verdict or settlement representing amounts recovered by a plaintiff for medical expenses." Id. The court also pointed out that the parties in Ahlborn had stipulated to a figure representing the total recovery for medical expenses. The court explained that "the court in Ahlborn simply accepted the stipulation, and in no way adopted the formula as a required or sanctioned method to determine the medical expense portion of an overall settlement amount." Id. at 591.

The Fifth District in <u>Smith</u> rejected the plaintiff's attempt to utilize the formula agreed to by the parties in <u>Ahlborn</u>, finding that the formula improperly assumed the Medicaid lien amount to be the *only* medical expense included by the plaintiff as part of his or her overall damage claim. "Stated another way, without knowing how much of a plaintiff's total damage claim is comprised of medical expenses, there is no way to calculate the medical expense portion of a settlement by simply comparing the damage claim to the ultimate settlement amount." <u>Id.</u> The court explained further that if it knew the amount of the medical expense portion of the total damage claim, it could reduce that amount "to approximate the settlement

amount attributable to medical expenses. But, knowing only the total damages claimed and the ultimate settlement amount simply does not allow one to reasonably estimate the medical expense portion of a settlement." <u>Id.</u> at 591-92.

Although the court rejected the plaintiff's attempts to utilize the formula used in Ahlborn, it did recognize that, pursuant to Ahlborn, "a plaintiff should be afforded an opportunity to seek the reduction of a Medicaid lien amount by demonstrating, with evidence, that the lien amount exceeds the amount recovered for medical expenses." Id. at 592. Finding that the plaintiff in that case had not done so, the court determined that the trial court had properly applied §409.910, Florida Statutes, to permit the state to recover the full amount of its lien.

b. Russell v. Agency for Health Care Admin.

The Second District addressed the issue next in Russell v. Agency for Health Care Admin., 23 So.3d 1266, 1267 (Fla. 2d DCA 2010). In Russell, the plaintiff settled her medical malpractice claim for \$3 million. The parties did not allocate the settlement among the various heads of damages. The state asserted a Medicaid lien of \$221,434.24, the full amount of the benefits paid on behalf of the plaintiff, against the settlement proceeds.

In <u>Russell</u>, the plaintiff moved to reduce the lien to 1/10 of the claimed amount. She argued that the total value of her claim was \$30 million and, thus, the \$3 million settlement constituted a recovery of only 1/10 of her claim.

Accordingly, the plaintiff contended, pursuant to <u>Ahlborn</u>, the Medicaid lien had to be reduced by 1/10. The trial court rejected this argument, finding that "the state of Florida's Medicaid lien is equivalent to the past medical damages portion of the parties undifferentiated settlement agreement." <u>Id.</u> at 1267.

On appeal, the Second District agreed with the trial court and determined that the plaintiff was not entitled to a reduction of the lien. The court explained that central to the Ahlborn Court's decision was the stipulation by the parties as to the portion of the settlement attributable to medical expenses. In Russell, there was no such stipulation and no similar basis for determining an allocation of the settlement proceeds.

The Second District concluded that because the plaintiff failed to establish any basis for concluding that the lien asserted by the state extended to a portion of the settlement meant to compensate her for damages distinct from medical costs, the allocation scheme in section 409.910, Florida Statutes, applied. Additionally, the court held that a judicial determination as to the amount of a settlement meant to compensate a plaintiff for past medical expenses was not necessary where the parties to the settlement agreement had not agreed on an allocation.

Thus, both the Second and the Fifth Districts ultimately applied section 409.910 and refused to reduce the Medicaid liens at issue. The decisions of the two courts appeared to have been in conflict, however, because the Fifth District held

in <u>Smith</u> that Medicaid recipients were entitled to hearings to establish that the lien amounts exceeded the amounts recovered for medical expenses, while the Second District in <u>Russell</u> held that a hearing was not required because section 409.910 was conclusive.

c. The Instant Case

Citing, *inter alia*, Smith and Russell, the Third District in the instant case determined that subsection 409.910(11)(f) is not federally pre-empted and is "fully effective and enforceable." Garcon v. Agency for Health Care Admin., 96 So.3d 472, 473 (Fla. 3d DCA 2012). The Third District held that a trial court is not required to allocate settlement proceeds based upon a fair evaluation of a plaintiff's injuries. <u>Id.</u> The court reasoned that subsection 409.910(11)(f) is a procedure to fix a Medicaid lien which is in compliance with federal Medicaid law, as interpreted by the Supreme Court in Ahlborn. Id. at 473-74.

d. Roberts v. Albertson's Inc.

After the Third District issued its decision in the instant case, the Fourth District weighed in on the issue in Roberts v. Albertson's Inc., 119 So.3d 457 (Fla. 4th DCA 2012). In Roberts, the Fourth District held that subsection 409.910(11)(f) "creates a presumptively valid allocation of settlement proceeds subject to a Medicaid lien when AHCA does not participate in the settlement agreement." Id. at 465. However, the court held that the statutory allocation "is a default allocation,"

which could run afoul of federal anti-lien and anti-recovery statutes if, for example, the majority of an award (after attorney's fees and costs) is not allocable to medical expenses." <u>Id.</u> Thus, the Fourth District disagreed with the Third District in the instant case and held that a Medicaid beneficiary "should be afforded an opportunity to seek the reduction of a Medicaid lien amount established by the statutory default allocation by demonstrating, with evidence, that the lien amount exceeds the amount recovered for medical expenses." <u>Id.</u> The Fourth District originally certified conflict with the instant case and with the Second District's decision in <u>Russell</u>, "to the extent those cases stand for the proposition that a plaintiff is not entitled to an opportunity to prove the Medicaid lien exceeds the amount recovered for medical expenses." <u>Id.</u>

5. Wos v. E.M.A.

While the instant case was pending before this Court on jurisdiction, the United States Supreme Court issued a decision in <u>Wos v. E.M.A. ex rel. Johnson</u>, 133 S. Ct. 1391 (2013). The question in <u>Wos</u> was the same one faced by the district

_

⁵ AHCA moved for rehearing in <u>Roberts</u>. The Fourth District ultimately stayed rehearing pending the United States Supreme Court's decision in <u>Wos v. E.M.A. ex rel. Johnson</u>, 133 S. Ct. 1391 (2013), which was expected to be issued at any time. After the Supreme Court issued its decision in <u>Wos</u>, which is discussed further below, the Fourth District denied rehearing, but "in light of the decision issued by the United States Supreme Court" in <u>Wos</u>, it withdrew its certification of conflict with the instant case and with Russell.

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