STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND THE FACTS

Respondent accepts Petitioners' Statement of the Case and Facts as accurate but wishes to add that as a result of Petitioners' post opinion motion the Third District Court of Appeals withdrew its original opinion of June 13, 2012 and substituted the opinion of September 5, 2012. The substituted opinion clarified the provisions of the Florida statute that the court relied on to find that the Agency was entitled to receive its full lien amount (A-2-3).

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Third District Court Appeals made an unequivocal expression upholding the validity of the statutory formula despite Garcon's argument that it violated the Supremacy Clause of the United States Constitution (A-4). Such expressions of validity fit squarely within the parameters for discretionary jurisdiction under Florida law. See Art. V., Sec. 3(b)(3), Fla. Const.; Fla. R. App. P. 9.030(a)(2)A(i). Petitioners also seek discretionary jurisdiction based upon a conflict in the circuits. Respondent admits an apparent conflict only.

ARGUMENT

THE COURT HAS DISCRETIONARY JURISDICTION TO REVIEW THE DECISION BELOW BECAUSE IT DECLARED A STATE STATUTE VALID. JURISDICTION BASED UPON A CONFLICT IN THE CIRCUITS, WHILE ONLY APPARENT, DOES CAUSE CONFUSION.

A. The "Conflict in the Circuits"

Petitioners' Jurisdictional Brief asserts that a conflict in the Districts is a basis for discretionary jurisdiction (PJB-6-9). Respondent does not seek to materially detract from Petitioner's description of the conflict except to point out that the portions of the holdings that seem contrary in the Second and Fifth Districts are merely dicta and are not certified as conflicting. The one decision certifying a conflict (in the Fourth District) is not final because post opinion motions are still pending.

Nonetheless, despite these technicalities, Respondent readily admits that an apparent conflict exists. The Agency has approximately 30,000 open Third Party Liability tort cases, many of which become the subject of lien reduction hearings in the Circuit Courts where the validity of the aforementioned statute is challenged. The Agency is presently defending nine appeals in all districts of the state, many of which involve amicus briefs from the Florida Justice Association, Florida Elder Lawyers Association and Florida's Office of the Attorney General. All appeals raise essentially the

3

same issue: whether Section 409.910 (11)(f) F.S. sets forth the proper manner of allocating the medical expenses of a settlement to determine the proper amount to repay Medicaid.

B. <u>A Frequently Litigated Medicaid Funding Statute Has been</u> <u>Declared Valid.</u>

It is the Respondent's position that the best basis for jurisdiction to be accepted is that The Third District's decision affirmed the Eleventh Circuit Court's Order on Petitioner's Petition to Allocate Settlement and Determine Medicaid Lien and expressly found that the Florida Statute Section 409.910(11)(f) (2011) "is not federally preempted and is, as the lower court held, *fully effective* and enforceable" (A-4).(Emphasis added).

Thus, the decision below, unequivocally affirms the validity of the State of Florida's statutory method for determining Medicaid's reimbursement portion. The decision is the best and cleanest expression holding the statute valid of all the District Court decisions, and it is the best basis for this court to accept jurisdiction. *Murray v. Mariner Health*, 994 So.2d 1051 (Fla. 2008).

The serious policy considerations under girding this statute warrant this court's attention and affirmance of its validity. The statutory formula

4

affirmed below is an integral part in ensuring the funding of Medicaid, a joint federal and state public assistance program which must be administered in accordance with both state and federal laws. Further, the manner in which the formula applies amounts to a statutory presumption which takes no more than 34.5% of a tort settlement. In many cases the percentage under the statutory formula is significantly less than 34.5% due to the credit for the Plaintiff's costs of the suit.¹ Having a specific statutory formula based upon a conclusive presumption, which applies against the backdrop of the federal anti lien rule, pits the essence of governing an aid program efficiently and fairly against the potential property interests contained within the amorphous components of a tort settlement. Petitioners submit such presumptions must be subject to evidentiary hearings. Respondent argues that this statute fits squarely within the test for a permissible conclusory presumption. These unique policy aspects of the statute support this court's exercising discretionary jurisdiction to review the Third District's determination of validity.

Finally, and as stated more fully in our first argument above, the landscape of litigation and appellate activity being devoted to this single

¹Petitioner, whether wittingly or unwittingly, refers to the statutory formula incorrectly as taking 50% of the settlement. See, PJB-5 last paragraph. One can only refer to 50% if one adds that such percentage applies only after crediting attorney fees and costs.

statutory formula throughout the state of Florida is quite formidable. If not for bringing uniformity to the tort bar or relief to AHCA, then this Court should accept jurisdiction to bring relief to the judiciary.

CONCLUSION

WHEREFORE, based on the preceding authorities and arguments, Respondent respectfully requests this Court to accept jurisdiction to review this cause.